
  
www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 
 

MEETING NOTICE 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: 
Grant E. Bauman 
R2PC Principal Planner 
(517) 768-6711 
gbauman@co.jackson.mi.us 

DATE: April 14, 2022 

TIME: 6:00 p.m. 

PLACE: 5th Floor Commission Chambers 
 Jackson County Tower Building 
 120 W. Michigan Avenue 
 Jackson, Michigan 49201 

MEETING AGENDA 
 

1. Call to order and pledge of allegiance 

2. Public comment [3 MINUTE LIMIT] 

3. Approval of minutes 

Approval of the March 10, 2022, meeting minutes [ACTION]  ..................................................................  3 

4. Approval of agenda 

Approval of the April 14, 2022, meeting agenda [ACTION] 

5. Request(s) for review, comment, and recommendation 

a. Consideration of township zoning amendment(s) 

(1) CZ | #22-04 | Leoni Township zoning text amendment [ACTION]  ..............................................  5 

(2) CZ | #22-05 | Spring Arbor Township zoning text amendment [ACTION]  .................................  25 

b. Consideration of master plan(s) – None 

c. Farmland and Open Space Preservation Program (PA 116) application(s) – None 

6. Other business 

a. Unfinished business – None 

b. New business – 2021 JCPC Annual Report 

Approval of document [ACTION]  ......................................................................................................  33 

7. Public comment [2 MINUTE LIMIT] 

8. Commissioner comment 

9. Adjournment 

 

 

The next scheduled meeting of the Jackson County Planning Commission is May 12, 2022 

04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #1 

mailto:gbauman@co.jackson.mi.us


This page is intentionally blank. 

04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #2 



  
www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 
 

MEETING MINUTES 

March 10, 2022 
5th Floor Commission Chambers ● Jackson County Tower Building ● Jackson, Michigan 

Members Present: Mr. Roger Gaede, Environment; Ms. Nancy Hawley, At Large; Mr. Ted Hilleary, 
Education; Mr. Corey Kennedy, Jackson County Board of Commissioners; and Mr. 
Jim Videto, Agriculture 

 Members Absent: Mr. Eric Beda, Industry and Economics; Mr. Timothy Burns, At Large; Ms. Pat 
Gallagher, At Large; and Mr. Russ Jennings, At Large 

 Liaisons Present: Mr. Grant Bauman, Principal Planner 

 Others Present: None 

Item 1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance. Chair Hawley called the meeting to order at 6:00 
p.m. Those in attendance rose and joined in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Item 2. Public Comment. There was no public comment. 

Item 3. Approval of Minutes. Comm. Hilleary made a motion, seconded by Comm. Videto, to ap-
prove the February 10, 2022, meeting minutes as presented. The motion was approved 
unanimously. 

Item 4. Approval of the Agenda. Comm. Videto made a motion, seconded by Comm. Hilleary, to 
approve the March 10, 2022, meeting agenda as presented. The motion was approved 
unanimously. 

Item 5. Request(s) for Review, Comment, and Recommendation. 

a. Consideration of Township Zoning Amendment(s). None. 

b. Consideration of Master Plan(s). None. 

c. Farmland & Open Space Preservation Program (PA 116) application(s). None. 

Item 6. Other Business. 

b. Unfinished Business – Jackson County Master Plan. 

Commissioners reviewed the full draft of the Jackson County Master Plan prior to send-
ing it to the County Board of Commissioners for review and release for public comment. 
Comm. Gaede suggested that areas of concern (i.e., endangered species) should be 
added to the plan. After some discussion, it was decided to add the following item as 
Action #7 under the Natural Resources goal (see pages 3-8 and 3-9 of the master plan): 

7. Land owners should be aware of endangered species that may be present. 
Those plants and animals of concern should be protected. Check with the Jack-
son County Conservation District (www.jacksoncd.org). 

04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #3 

http://www.jacksoncd.org/


3/10/22 JCPC Minutes Page 2 
 

Comm. Kennedy made a motion, seconded by Comm. Hilleary, to approve the master 
plan with the Commission’s added recommendation. The motion was approved unani-
mously. 

c. New Business. – 2021 JCPC Annual Report. 

Comm. Kennedy had to depart, leaving the Commission without a quorum. Conse-
quently, the vote on the 2021 JCPC Annual Report was postponed until the April 14, 
2022, meeting. 

Item 7. Public Comment. None. 

Item 8. Commissioner Comment. Comm. Hawley announced proposed state legislation that 
would require primary caregivers (i.e., medical marihuana) to register the products they 
produce. Comm. Gaede spoke about his concerns regarding endangered species. 

Item 9. Adjournment. Chair Hawley adjourned the meeting at 6:54 p.m. 

Respectfully submitted by:  
Grant Bauman, Recording Secretary 

 

04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #4 



  
www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission/ 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

COORDINATED ZONING REPORT | #22-04 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: April 7, 2022 

 Proposal: Solar Energy Systems in Leoni Township 

Background Information 
The Leoni Township Planning Commission submitted various Zoning Ordinance amendments to the JCPC 
for review and comment pertaining to Solar Energy Systems. Unfortunately, the proposal does not indi-
cate the locations (i.e., sections) of the proposed amendments within Chapter 42 (Zoning) of Leoni 
Township’s Code of Ordinances (see the background information). Accordingly, JCPC staff cannot refer-
ence the proposed amendments by section number. Here is a synopsis of the proposed amendments: 

 A purpose and intent statement is provided. 

 Various criteria for the use of all solar energy equipment are specified. 

 Definitions are provided for: “Accessory Solar Energy System”; “Community Solar Energy System 
(CSES) (also called ‘Solar Garden’)”; “Solar Farm”; and “Solar Collection Panels”. 

 Set criteria for “Permitted Use Standards for Accessory Systems” are specified. 

 “Conditional Use Standards for CSES/Solar Garden or Solar Farm” are provided. 

Staff Analysis 

As indicated in the purpose and intent statement of the proposed amendments, “it is in the public inter-
est to encourage the use and development of renewable energy systems”. However, the proposed 
amendments need significant changes before they are approved. 

General findings: 

 The locations (i.e., section numbers) of the proposed amendments within Chapter 42 (Zoning) of 
Leoni Township’s Code of Ordinances must be specified. 

 It appears that standards from the zoning ordinance of another community was used without 
proper alteration to fit within the context of Chapter 42 (Zoning). For example: 

o References to “special land uses” should be changed to “conditional uses”. 
o References to “Large Energy Solar System” should be changed to “CSES/Solar Garden or 

Solar Farm”. 

Conditional use findings: 

 The attached meeting minutes indicate that separate resolutions were passed to allow Commu-
nity Solar Energy Systems (CSES) (also called “Solar Garden”) and Solar Farm as a conditional use 
in the Agricultural (AG), Light Industrial (ML), and Heavy Industrial (M) zoning districts. However, 
the use was not added to the pertinent listings of conditional uses in the text of Chapter 42. 

04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #5 



CZ #22-04 Page 2 

 

 Work is needed on the specified property setbacks. The first sentence of Subsection C states 
that each district’s applicable setbacks must be followed. The last sentence of the subsection 
states a setback of fifty feet. These two statements must be reconciled. The subsection also pro-
vides other setback requirements for floodplains, wetlands, riparian shorelines, wildlife manage-
ment areas, parks and scenic trail corridors. Some of those uses/functions may not be applicable 
to Leoni Township and others may need to be defined. 

 Many of the proposed requirements appear to be too general (e.g., permit applications, land-
scaping, etc.). There should be specific standards that can be enforced. Please see the attached 
requirements from Summit Township for examples.  

Staff Advisement 
Based upon this analysis, staff advises the Jackson County Planning 
Commission to recommend DISAPPROVAL of the proposed Solar 
Energy System Zoning Ordinance (i.e., Chapter 42) amendments to 
the Leoni Township Board, noting the comments provided in the 
staff report (see the staff report). 

Staff Report Attachments: 

 Background information provided by Leoni Township. 

  

Suggested Actions: 

(1) Recommend APPROVAL 
(2) Recommend DISAPPROVAL 
(3) Recommend APPROVAL 

WITH COMMENTS 
(4) Take NO ACTION 

04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #6 



CZ #22-04 Page 3 

 
Section 150.257(L) (Additional Development Requirements for Certain Uses) of Chapter 150 (Zon-

ing Code) of the Summit Township, Michigan Code of Ordinances 

 

(L)   Utility grid, large solar energy facility (solar farm). The purpose of this subsection is to establish 

minimum requirements and regulations for the siting, installation, operation, repair, decommissioning, 

and removal of utility grid, large solar energy facilities (hereafter referred to as solar farms), as defined in 

§ 150.006, while promoting the safe, effective, and efficient use of such energy facilities as a conditional 

use in specified zoning districts. The following requirements shall apply to all solar farms: 

      (1)   Location. All solar farms are limited to the Agricultural (AG-1), Light Industrial (L-I), and Gen-

eral Industrial (I-2) districts. 

      (2)   Regulations and design standards. All solar farms shall comply with the following minimum reg-

ulations and design standards. 

         (a)   Design standards. 

            1.   Minimum lot size. No solar farm shall be erected on any zoning lot less than 20 acres in size 

(as defined in § 150.006). 

            2.   Maximum height. The maximum height for a solar panel shall be 14 feet. The maximum height 

of a power switchyard (as defined in § 150.006) shall not exceed the minimum height needed to tie into 

electric transmission lines. The height of all other buildings and accessory structures shall comply with 

the maximum building height requirements of the applicable zoning district in which the solar farm is lo-

cated, as listed in § 150.146. The height of required lightning rods attached to the power switchyard or 

solar farm related equipment shall not be subject to the foregoing height limitations. The height of light-

ning rods shall be limited to that height necessary to protect the power switchyard and solar farm equip-

ment from lightning. 

            3.   Setbacks. Solar farm facilities and related structures and components shall be set back a mini-

mum of 30 feet from all lot lines. In addition, solar farm solar arrays and other structures must be located 

at least 300 feet from the road right-of-way along US-127 and M-50; 150 feet from the road right-of-way 

along all other roadways, public and private; and 150 feet from any lot line adjacent to all existing Rural 

Non-Farm Residential (RNF-1), Suburban Residential (RS-1 and RS-2), Urban Residential (RU-1 and 

RU-2), Multiple-Family Residential (RM-1 and RM-2), and Mobile Home Residential (MH-1) district 

land; and any lot line adjacent to an existing residence at the time the solar farm is granted conditional use 

approval, unless the zoning lot is comprised of a portion of the lot containing the residence. Additional 

setbacks may be required to mitigate noise and glare impacts or to provide for designated road or utility 

corridors, as identified through the review process. 

            4.   Safety/access. 

               a.   Security fencing shall be installed around the solar farm as follows: fencing to be a minimum 

of 6 feet and a maximum of 8 feet in height; fencing to be located inside the perimeter of screening, if 

any. Knox boxes and keys shall be provided at locked entrances for emergency personnel access. 

               b.   Appropriate warning signage shall be placed at the entrance and perimeter of the solar farm. 

            5.   Noise. No component of any solar farm shall produce noise that exceeds any of the following 

limitations. Adequate setbacks shall be provided to comply with these limitations: 

               a.   50 dBA, as measured at the property line of any adjacent Rural Non-Farm Residential (RNF-

1), Suburban Residential (RS-1 and RS-2), Urban Residential (RU-1 and RU-2), Multiple-Family Resi-

dential (RM-1 and RM-2), and Mobile Home Residential (MH-1) district zoned land in existence at the 

time the solar farm is granted conditional use approval; 

               b.   45 dBA, as measured at any neighboring residence in existence at the time the solar farm is 

granted conditional use approval, between the hours of 9:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m.; and 

               c.   60 dBA, as measured at the lot lines of the project boundary. 

            6.   Visual appearance. 

               a.   Solar farm buildings and accessory structures shall, to the extent reasonably possible, use 

04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #7 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/summittownship/latest/summittwp_mi/0-0-0-3006#JD_150.006
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/summittownship/latest/summittwp_mi/0-0-0-3006#JD_150.006
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/summittownship/latest/summittwp_mi/0-0-0-3006#JD_150.006
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/summittownship/latest/summittwp_mi/0-0-0-5616#JD_150.146


CZ #22-04 Page 4 

 
materials, colors, and textures that will blend the solar farm into the existing environment. 

               b.   The perimeter of solar farm facilities shall also be screened and buffered by installing ever-

green vegetative plantings whenever existing natural forest vegetation does not otherwise continuously 

obscure the solar farm’s entire lot perimeter from adjacent parcels, subject to the following requirements: 

                  i.   Unless screened and buffered at all times by natural forest vegetation having a substantially 

similar obscuring effect of an evergreen vegetative buffer installed pursuant to this subsection, a continu-

ous evergreen vegetative buffer shall be installed and maintained at all times at the perimeter of all solar 

farms. 

                  ii.   The evergreen vegetative buffer shall be composed of evergreen trees or shrubs that at 

planting shall be a minimum of 6 feet in height. The evergreen trees or shrubs shall be spaced no more 

than 10 feet apart on center (from the central trunk of 1 plant to the central trunk of the next plant). Within 

5 years of planting, required evergreen vegetative screening shall be no less than 15 feet tall. 

                  iii.   Failure to continuously maintain the required evergreen vegetative buffer shall constitute 

a violation of this code and sufficient grounds for revocation of any conditional use permit previously 

granted. 

                  iv.   An alternate screening method may be considered for approval by the Planning Commis-

sion as long as it has a substantially similar obscuring effect of an evergreen buffer. 

                  v.   If the solar farm is not visible from any road and if the solar farm is not visible from any 

existing residence, the screening requirements may be modified at the discretion of the Planning Commis-

sion. 

               c.   Lighting of the solar farm shall be limited to the minimum necessary, supplied with down 

lighting, and in no case shall any illumination from such lighting extend beyond the perimeter of the solar 

farm. A photometric study may be used to make this determination. 

               d.   No solar farm shall produce glare that would constitute a nuisance to occupants of neighbor-

ing properties or to persons traveling neighboring roads. Upon written notice from the Zoning Adminis-

trator or such other person designated by the Township Board to the owners of the solar farm that glare 

from the solar farm is causing a nuisance to occupants of neighboring property or to persons traveling 

neighboring roads, the owner of the solar farm shall have a reasonable time (not to exceed 180 consecu-

tive days) from the date of such notice to remediate such glare. 

            7.   Medium voltage cable. All medium voltage cable (as defined in § 150.006) within the project 

boundary shall be installed underground unless determined otherwise by the Planning Commission be-

cause of severe environmental constraints (e.g. wetlands, cliffs, hard bedrock), and except for power 

switchyards (as defined in § 150.006) or area within a substation. All electrical interconnections and dis-

tribution components must comply with all applicable codes and public utility requirements. 

         (b)   Local, state and federal permits. A solar farm shall be required to obtain all necessary permits 

from the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (see § 150.257(L)(4)(b)) and any applicable 

municipal, county, state, or federal permits. 

         (c)   Agreements/easements. If the zoning lot (as defined in § 150.006) on which the project is pro-

posed is to be leased, rather than owned, by the owner of the solar farm, all property within the project 

boundary must be included in a recorded easement(s), lease(s), or consent agreement(s) specifying the 

applicable uses for the duration of the project. All necessary leases, easements, or other agreements be-

tween the owner of the solar farm and property owners must be in place prior to commencing construc-

tion, unless specified otherwise by the conditional use permit. 

      (3)   Permit applications. 

         (a)   An application for a conditional use permit to establish a solar farm must include a complete 

description of the project and documentation to sufficiently demonstrate that the requirements set forth in 

§ 150.257(L)(2)(a) will be met. Supporting documentation for addressing the review criteria of § 

150.257(L)(4) is also to be provided. The Planning Commission and Township Board may require any 

information reasonably necessary to determine compliance with this code. The application must also be 

04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #8 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/summittownship/latest/summittwp_mi/0-0-0-3006#JD_150.006
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/summittownship/latest/summittwp_mi/0-0-0-4156#JD_150.257
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/summittownship/latest/summittwp_mi/0-0-0-3006#JD_150.006
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/summittownship/latest/summittwp_mi/0-0-0-4156#JD_150.257
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/summittownship/latest/summittwp_mi/0-0-0-4156#JD_150.257


CZ #22-04 Page 5 

 
accompanied by detailed site plans drawn to scale and dimensioned and certified by a registered engineer 

licensed in the State of Michigan, displaying the following information: 

            1.   All lot lines and dimensions, including a legal description of each lot or parcel comprising the 

solar farm; 

            2.   Names of owners of each lot or parcel within Summit Township that is proposed to be within 

the solar farm; 

            3.   Vicinity map showing the location of all surrounding land uses; 

            4.   Location and height of all proposed solar array(s), buildings, structures, electrical tie lines and 

transmission lines, security fencing, and all above-ground structures and utilities associated with a solar 

farm; 

            5.   Horizontal and vertical (elevation) to scale drawings with dimensions that show the location of 

the proposed solar array(s), buildings, structures, electrical tie lines and transmission lines, security fenc-

ing and all above ground structures and utilities on the property; 

            6.   Location of all existing and proposed overhead and underground electrical transmission or dis-

tribution lines within the solar farm and within 1,000 feet of the outside perimeter of the solar farm; 

            7.   Proposed setbacks from the solar array(s) to all existing and proposed structures within the so-

lar farm; 

            8.   Land elevations for the solar array(s) location and the relationship to the land elevations of all 

existing and proposed structures within the solar farm; 

            9.   Access driveways within and to the solar farm, together with a detailed narrative regarding di-

mensions, composition, and maintenance of each proposed driveway. All access drives shall be subject to 

Jackson County Department of Transportation approval, and shall be planned so as to minimize the use of 

lands for that purpose; 

            10.   Planned security measures to prevent unauthorized trespass and access and to warn of poten-

tial dangers during the construction, operation, removal, maintenance or repair of the solar farm; 

            11.   A written description of the maintenance program to be used for the solar array(s) and other 

components of the solar farm, including decommissioning and removal when determined by the township 

to be obsolete, uneconomic, or abandoned. The description shall include maintenance schedules, types of 

maintenance to be performed, and decommissioning and removal procedures and schedules if the solar 

farm becomes obsolete, uneconomic or abandoned; 

            12.   A copy of the manufacturer’s safety measures; 

            13.   Planned lighting protection measures; and 

            14.   Additional detail(s) and information as required by the conditional use permit requirements 

of the Zoning Code, or as required by the Planning Commission. 

         (b)   It is preferred that any related conditional use permit applications for substations or new trans-

mission lines be considered in conjunction with the conditional use permit application for the solar farm; 

however, if the details of those improvements are not available at the time of application for the solar 

farm, they may be considered later, through subsequent conditional use permit review. At a minimum, the 

intended route for connecting to the power grid and the alternative locations of any substation shall be 

disclosed with the application for the solar farm. 

         (c)   Due to the complexity of solar farm projects, the township may require a development agree-

ment or other appropriate instrument to address taxing, property assessment, decommissioning bond, and 

other related issues not addressed by this subsection. A development agreement may be required as a con-

dition of the permit, and must be approved by the Township Board prior to commencing construction. 

      (4)   Provisions for conditional use permit review. In addition to the standards set forth for conditional 

use approval in § 150.253, additional consideration shall be given to the following: 

         (a)   Project rationale. Project rationale, including estimated construction schedule, project life, 

phasing, and likely buyers or markets for the generated energy. 

04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #9 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/summittownship/latest/summittwp_mi/0-0-0-4131#JD_150.253


CZ #22-04 Page 6 

 
         (b)   Siting considerations. Siting considerations, such as avoiding areas/locations with a high poten-

tial for biological conflict such as areas of environmental concern, parks, trails, special management areas 

or important wildlife habitat or corridors; avoiding visual corridors that are prominent scenic view sheds; 

avoiding areas of erodible slopes and soils, where concerns for water quality, landslide, severe erosion, or 

high storm runoff potential have been identified; and, avoiding known sensitive historical, cultural or ar-

cheological resources. 

         (c)   Wildlife habitat areas and migration patterns. Specifically include information on any use of 

the site by endangered or threatened species and whether the project is in a biologically significant area. If 

threatened or endangered species exist in the area, consultation with the Michigan Departments of Natural 

Resources and Environmental Quality will be necessary. 

         (d)   Environmental analysis. The Planning Commission may require an analysis of impacts to his-

toric, cultural and archaeological resources; soil erosion (water and wind); flora; and water quality and 

water supply in the area when there is reason to believe that adverse impacts to such may occur. 

         (e)   Hazardous waste. As applicable, the application must include plans for the spill prevention, 

clean-up, and disposal of fuels, oils, and hazardous wastes. 

         (f)   Transportation plan for construction and operation phases. Proof of an agreement with the 

Jackson County Department of Transportation and the Michigan Department of Transportation (if appli-

cable) regarding any construction phase of the project is required. 

         (g)   Public safety. Identify and address any known or suspected potential hazards to adjacent prop-

erties, public roadways, communities, aviation, and the like that may be created by the project. 

         (h)   Decommissioning plan. Describe the decommissioning and final land reclamation plan to be 

followed after the anticipated useful life, or abandonment, or termination of the project, including evi-

dence of proposed commitments with affected parties (i.e., township, any lessor or property owner, etc.) 

that ensure proper final reclamation of the solar farm. Among other things, revegetation and road repair 

activities should be addressed in the plan. Under this plan, all structures and facilities shall be removed, 

including any structures below-grade, and removed offsite for disposal. No concrete, piping and other ma-

terials may be left in place. The ground must be restored to its original condition within 180 consecutive 

days. 

      (5)   Application escrow account. An escrow account shall be deposited with the township by the ap-

plicant when the applicant applies for a conditional use permit for a solar farm. The monetary amount de-

posited by the applicant in escrow with the township shall be the amount estimated by the township to 

cover all reasonable costs and expenses associated with the conditional use permit review and approval 

process, which costs shall include, but are not limited to, reasonable fees of the Township Attorney, 

Township Planner and Township Engineer, as well as costs for any reports or studies that are reasonably 

related to the zoning review process for the application. Such escrow amount shall be in addition to any 

filing or application fees established by resolution. At any point during the review process, the township 

may require that the applicant place additional funds into escrow with the township if the existing escrow 

amount deposited by the applicant is deemed insufficient by the township. If the escrow account needs 

replenishing and the applicant refuses to do so promptly, the review process shall cease unless and until 

the applicant makes the required additional escrow deposit. 

      (6)   Decommissioning escrow account. If a conditional use permit is approved pursuant to this sub-

section, the township shall require security in the form of a cash deposit, or surety bond acceptable to the 

township, which will be furnished to the township in order to ensure full compliance with this subsection 

and all conditions of approval. When determining the amount of each required security, the township may 

also require an annual escalator or increase based on the Consumer Price Index (or the equivalent or its 

successor). Such financial guarantee shall be deposited or filed with the Township Clerk after a condi-

tional use permit has been approved but before construction commences on the solar farm. At a minimum, 

the financial security shall be in an amount determined by the township to be reasonably sufficient to re-

04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #10 



CZ #22-04 Page 7 

 
store the property to its previous condition prior to construction and operation of the solar farm. Such fi-

nancial security shall be kept in full force and effect during the entire time that the solar farm exists or is 

in place, and such financial security shall be irrevocable and non-cancelable. 

      (7)   Code compliance. Construction of a solar farm shall comply with the National Electric Safety 

Code and any applicable Michigan construction codes as a condition of any conditional use permit under 

this subsection. 

      (8)   Certified solar array components. Components of a solar farm shall be approved by the Institute 

of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), Solar Rating and Certification Corporation (SRCC), Elec-

tronic Testing Laboratories (EIL), or other similar certification organization acceptable to the township. 

      (9)   Solar access. The township makes no assurance of solar access other than the provisions con-

tained within this subsection. The applicant may provide evidence of covenants, easements, or similar 

documentation for abutting property owners providing access to solar energy for the operation of a solar 

farm. 

(Ord. -, Article V, § 5.5.7, passed 9-12-2006; Am. Ord. passed - -; Am. Ord. passed 11-13-2018)  Penalty, 

see § 150.999 

 

 

04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #11 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/summittownship/latest/summittwp_mi/0-0-0-5725#JD_150.999


04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #12 



04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #13 



04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #14 



04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #15 



04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #16 



04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #17 



04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #18 



04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #19 



04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #20 



04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #21 



04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #22 



04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #23 



This page is intentionally blank. 

04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #24 



  
www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission/ 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

COORDINATED ZONING REPORT | #22-05 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: April 7, 2022 

 Proposal: “Owner Occupied Business” Regulations in Spring Arbor Township 

Background Information 
The Spring Arbor Township Planning Commission submitted various Zoning Ordinance amendments to 
the JCPC for review and comment pertaining to an “Owner Occupied Business”: 

 Section 2.1 (Definitions).  The addition of a definition for “Owner-Occupied Business”. 

 Section 4.4.1 (Local Commercial District (C-1)).  The addition of “Owner-Occupied Business, 
subject to regulations contained in Section 5.9.17” to the listing of conditional uses allowed in 
the C-1 District as Section 4.4.1.B.14. 

 Section 4.4.2 (General Commercial District (C-2)).  The addition of “Owner-Occupied Business, 
subject to regulations contained in Section 5.9.17” to the listing of conditional uses allowed in 
the C-2 District as Section 4.4.2.B.17. 

 Section 4.4.3 (Highway Service Commercial District (C-3)).  The addition of “Owner-Occupied 
Business, subject to regulations contained in Section 5.9.17” to the listing of conditional uses 
allowed in the C-3 District as Section 4.4.3.B.12. 

 Section 4.5.1 (Light Industrial District (I-1)).  The addition of “Owner-Occupied Business, sub-
ject to regulations contained in Section 5.9.17” to the listing of conditional uses allowed in the I-
1 District as Section 4.5.1.B.9. 

 Section 5.9 (Additional Development Requirements).  The addition of standards for the regula-
tion of an “Owner-Occupied Business” as Section 5.9.17. 

Staff Analysis 

The Spring Arbor Township Planning Commission wishes to allow “Owner-Occupied Dwellings” as a con-
ditional use in the Township’s commercial and industrial zoning districts, subject to various standards. 
The proposed definition of an “Owner-Occupied Dwelling” is: 

Where a building designed, occupied, and intended for use as a business, commercial or light in-
dustrial in nature, is occupied in part as a dwelling unit by the owner of the business, or their im-
mediate family with the dwelling unit being clearly incidental, and secondary to the principal 
commercial or industrial use. 

An “Owner-Occupied Dwelling” would require a conditional use permit in the C-1, C-2, C-3, and I-1 zon-
ing districts and is subject to the following regulations: 

1. The owner-occupied business shall be carried on within a building designed, occupied, and in-
tended to be used principally as a commercial or light industrial business. 

04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #25 



CZ #22-05 Page 2 

 
2. No more than fifty percent (50%) of the building shall be devoted to the residential use. 
3. The building must comply with all applicable Michigan building codes and all other regulations 

required under this Zoning Ordinance. 
4. The occupancy of the dwelling unit shall be reserved solely for the owner of the business located 

in the same building, or their immediate family. The dwelling cannot be utilized as a rental. 
5. The dwelling unit must be designed and constructed as part of the building intended to be used 

as a commercial or light industrial business. 
6. The above provisions can apply to new developments or redevelopments. 

This is a relatively simple set of proposed amendments which allow for the limited development of 
owner-occupied dwelling units as part of commercial or industrial buildings in the Township’s C-1, C-2, 
C-3, and I-1 zoning districts. The commercial or industrial character of the buildings will be maintained. 
Occupancy of a dwelling unit is limited to the business owner and his/her immediate family. The dwell-
ing is prohibited from becoming a rental unit. 

Staff Advisement 
Based upon this analysis, staff advises the Jackson County Planning 
Commission to recommend APPROVAL of the proposed “Owner-
Occupied Business” Zoning Ordinance amendments to the Spring 
Arbor Township Board (see the staff report). 

Staff Report Attachments: 

 Background information provided by Spring Arbor Township. 

 

 

Suggested Actions: 

(1) Recommend APPROVAL 
(2) Recommend DISAPPROVAL 
(3) Recommend APPROVAL 

WITH COMMENTS 
(4) Take NO ACTION 

04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #26 



04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #27 



04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #28 



04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #29 



04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #30 



04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #31 



This page is intentionally blank. 

04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #32 



2021 JCPC Annual Report 

Section 19(2) of the Michigan Planning Enabling Act (PA 33 of 2008, MCL 125.3819(2)) states 
that “[a] planning commission shall make an annual written report to the legislative body con-
cerning its operations and the status of planning activities, including recommendations regard-
ing actions by the legislative body related to planning and development. Section 103(B) of the 
Jackson County Planning Commission Bylaws also includes the preparation of an annual report 
to the County Board as a duty of the Commission. Accordingly, the report for 2021 follows: 

1. 2021 JCPC Membership & Officers 

The Jackson County Planning Commission (JCPC) is comprised of nine (9) members. The fol-
lowing commissioners served in 2021: 

 Mr. Eric Beda – Industrial and Economic Interests 

 Mr. Timothy Burns – At Large 

 Mr. Roger Gaede – Environmental Interests 

 Ms. Pat Gallagher – At Large 

 Ms. Nancy Hawley – At Large 

 Mr. Ted Hilleary – Educational Interests 

 Mr. Russ Jennings – At Large 

 Mr. Corey Kennedy – County Board of Commissioners 

 Mr. Jim Videto – Agricultural Interests 

Ms. Hawley and Mr. Beda served as the Chair and Secretary of the JCPC, respectively. 

2.  Immediate Responsibilities 

The Jackson County Planning Commission 
accomplished a lot during 2021, including 
the following responsibilities: 

a. Coordinated Zoning 

A primary responsibility of the Plan-
ning Commission is to review and rec-
ommend action on proposed amend-
ments to township zoning ordinances. 

The JCPC made thirty-one (31) recom-
mendations regarding zoning amend-
ments in nine (9) townships in 2021. 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

31

0

1

Zoning Amendments Master Plans

PA 116 Agreements

04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #33 



2021 JCPC Annual Report | Page 2 
 

Text amendments —pertaining to medical and recreational marihuana, shooting ranges, 

signs, solar energy, accessory structures, and industrial district standards— accounted 

for 32% of zoning ordinance amendment requests. Rezonings accounted for 68% of re-

quests. 

b. Coordinated Planning 

Another primary responsibility of the Commission is to review and provide feedback on 
municipal (i.e., city, village and township) master plans proposed within Jackson County 
as well as master plans proposed by surrounding counties. No proposed municipal mas-
ter plans were submitted to the JCPC for review and comment in 2021. 

c. Farmland and Open Space Preservation 

A secondary responsibility of the Planning Commission is to review and make recom-
mendations regarding Farmland and Open Space Preservation (i.e., PA 116) applications 
to pertinent Township Boards. The JCPC made a recommendation on one (1) application 
regarding the preservation of farmland and open space in 2021. 

 

3. Ultimate Goal and Objectives 

In the long-term, the JCPC seeks to coordinate planning throughout Jackson County while 
respecting the planning and zoning authority of municipal governments (i.e., the city, vil-
lages, and townships). This will be accomplished over time by: 

 

21

10

Rezonings

Text Amendments

0 5 10 15 20 25

Rezonings Text Amendments

Zoning Amendments Master Plans Farmland Agreements 

04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #34 



2021 JCPC Annual Report | Page 3 
 

a. County Master Plan 

The Commission is also charged with developing a countywide master plan upon which 
it will base (in part) its recommendations regarding municipal master plans and town-
ship zoning amendments (i.e., rezonings and text amendments). Towards that end, 
Commissioners continued work on a new edition of the Jackson County Master Plan in 
2021. The proposed future land use map was drafted. 

 

b. Education and Advocacy. The Commission will continue to maintain a webpage—lo-
cated on www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission—regarding 
the County Planning Commission for the use of its members and the municipalities they 
serve. Agenda packets (which include staff reports on the requests reviewed by the 
JCPC), meeting schedules and minutes, and more can be found on the webpage. 

4. Meetings. The County Planning Commission generally meets on the second (2nd) Thursday 
of each month at 6:00 pm in the Commission Chambers on the 5th Floor of the County 
Tower Building. 

Submitted on the behalf of the Jackson County Planning Commission 
Grant Bauman | JCPC Staff and Recording Secretary | 2-23-22 

 

04/14/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #35 

http://www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission/



